
 

 

 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Edward B. Zukoski (CO Bar No. 26352) 
Center for Biological Diversity 
1536 Wynkoop Street, Suite 421 
Denver, CO 80202 
Tel: (303) 641-3149 
Email: tzukoski@biologicaldiversity.org 
Pro Hac Vice Application Pending 
 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

TUCSON DIVISION 
 

Center for Biological Diversity, a non-
profit organization, and Maricopa Audubon 
Society, a non-profit organization, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

v. 
 
U.S. Bureau of Land Management; and 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 
 

Defendants. 
 

  
Case No. __________ 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs Center for Biological Diversity (“Center”) and Maricopa Audubon 

Society bring this action against the U.S. Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) and U.S. 

Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) for violations of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) 

arising from BLM final agency actions authorizing domestic livestock grazing on federal 

public lands allotments within the Agua Fria National Monument, including the issuance 

of term grazing permits, allotment management plans, and allotment annual operating 

instructions. 

2. The Monument was designated in 2000 in part to protect the “expansive 

mosaic of semi-desert grassland, cut by ribbons of valuable riparian forest” which 

constitute “an outstanding biological resource.” Proclamation 7263, 65 Fed. Reg. 2817 

(Jan. 18, 2000). It hosts abundant wildlife, including the yellow-billed cuckoo (“Cuckoo”), 

a bird listed as threatened under the ESA, and the Gila chub (“Chub”), an endangered native 

fish.  

3. The riparian forests, the streams that they adjoin and protect, and the wildlife 

that use these habitats (including the Cuckoo and Chub), have for years been damaged, 

degraded, and destroyed by excessive livestock grazing authorized and managed by BLM, 

despite repeated documentation of that damage provided by the Plaintiffs. 

4. Plaintiffs challenge, inter alia: (1) the failure of BLM and FWS to reinitiate 

and complete ESA Section 7 consultation regarding the ongoing impacts of livestock 

grazing on the Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments within the 

Agua Fria National Monument, on threatened and endangered species and their critical 

habitat, pursuant to the ESA; and (2) FWS’s November 6, 2018 Letter of Concurrence for 

the ten-year renewal of livestock grazing on the Horseshoe Allotment, pursuant to the ESA 

and APA.   

5. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief that Defendants are in ongoing violation of 

the ESA for failing to adequately protect and conserve the threatened and endangered 

species that reside within the Agua Fria National Monument. Plaintiffs also seek injunctive 
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relief to ensure adequate interim protection for the threatened and endangered species, and 

their critical habitat, until Defendants comply fully with the ESA.  

6. Pursuant to two 2006 Biological Opinions and the 2018 Letter of 

Concurrence, BLM has been required to limit livestock grazing in riparian areas within the 

Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments (“the five allotments”) of 

the Agua Fria National Monument, through mandatory seasonal timing restrictions, a 

rotational system, vegetation use thresholds, and/or fencing and exclosures to bar grazing 

seasonally or year-round from certain riparian areas. These restricted riparian areas include 

lands along Silver Creek, Indian Creek, and the Agua Fria River, and include designated 

critical habitat for the Cuckoo and Chub. 

7. Based on Plaintiffs’ years of site visits and surveys of the riparian habitat 

within the Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments, as well as 

agency documentation, BLM has failed and continues to fail to comply with the mandatory 

restrictions that were imposed to ensure adequate protection of this critically important 

habitat for threatened and endangered species. Despite significant new information 

provided by Plaintiffs documenting their survey results that reveals that livestock grazing 

on these allotments is affecting listed species and critical habitat in a manner and to an 

extent not previously considered, BLM and FWS have failed to complete reinitiated 

consultation, in ongoing violation of the ESA. 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a)(2). 

8. Further, BLM and FWS are in ongoing violation of the ESA due to the 

agencies’ failures and refusals to undertake and/or complete consultation concerning the 

Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments on the Agua Fria National 

Monument despite new federal listings and critical habitat designations, including the 

listing of the yellow-billed cuckoo as a threatened species in 2014, and the designation of 

critical habitat for the yellow-billed cuckoo in 2021. 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a)(4). 

9. BLM and FWS are also in violation of ESA Section 7(d), which provides 

that once an agency initiates or reinitiates Section 7 consultation, the agency “shall not 

make any irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources with respect to the agency 
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action which has the effect of foreclosing the formulation or implementation of any 

reasonable and prudent alternative measures which would not violate subsection (a)(2).” 

16 U.S.C. § 1536(d). The purpose of Section 7(d) is to prevent further harm to endangered 

species and designated critical habitat pending the completion of Section 7 consultation. 

BLM’s continued authorization of destructive livestock grazing within the Agua Fria 

National Monument while the agency reinitiates (but fails to complete) consultation has 

irretrievably harmed the Cuckoo and Chub. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(c), 

(g) (action arising under ESA citizen suit provision); 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706 (APA review of 

agency action and failure to act); and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction). 

11. The Court may grant the relief requested under the ESA, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1540(g); the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); and 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 2201-2202 (declaratory and injunctive relief). 

12. Plaintiffs provided sixty days’ notice of intent to file suit pursuant to the 

ESA’s citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), by letters to BLM and FWS dated 

November 30, 2023. This November 2023 notice letter supplemented prior notice letters 

sent to Defendants on: (1) June 14, 2021; (2) August 26, 2021; and (3) May 9, 2022. 

Defendants have not acted to remedy their continuing ESA violations by the date of this 

complaint’s filing. Therefore, an actual controversy exists between the parties under 28 

U.S.C. § 2201.  

13. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1) because a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to the Center’s claims occurred in this District. Venue is proper in the Tucson 

Division because one of the Plaintiffs (Center for Biological Diversity) resides in Tucson 

(Pima County). LRCiv 77.1(a). 
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PARTIES 

14. Plaintiff CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY is a non-profit 

environmental organization dedicated to the protection of endangered species and wild 

places through science, policy, and environmental law. The Center is headquartered in 

Tucson, Arizona, with offices throughout the United States. The Center has more than 

79,000 members and over 1.7 million online activists who are dedicated to the protection 

of endangered species and wild places. More than 3,600 Center members reside in Arizona. 

15. The Center for Biological Diversity brings this action on its own behalf, and 

on behalf of its members who derive aesthetic, recreational, inspirational, spiritual, 

scientific, and educational benefits from the public lands and waters of the lands within the 

Agua Fria National Monument, including the five allotments at issue here, and within the 

areas and habitat where threatened and endangered species and their critical habitat may 

be found. The Center’s members who have used and enjoyed, and intend to continue using 

and enjoying, the Agua Fria National Monument and the five allotments at issue include, 

but are not limited to, Chris Bugbee and Dr. Robin Silver. 

16. The Center for Biological Diversity’s members, including but not limited to 

Chris Bugbee and Dr. Robin Silver, use and enjoy the Agua Fria National Monument and 

the five allotments at issue, and in particular the riparian areas within the Monument, for a 

variety of purposes including hiking, photographing scenery and wildlife, viewing wildlife 

and wildlife sign, viewing the Monument’s centuries-old archeological treasures and 

structures, and engaging in other scientific and recreational activities. The areas of the five 

allotments that the Center’s members use and enjoy include specific areas where critical 

habitat for the Cuckoo and Chub have been designated, and where these imperiled species 

may be found or have been found in the past. The Center’s members’ use and enjoyment 

of these areas is significantly enhanced knowing that these endangered species are still 

likely to be present in these areas. 

17. Mr. Bugbee most recently visited the Agua Fria National Monument on 

January 28, 2024, when he hiked, enjoyed scenery and archeological sites, searched for 
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wildlife and riparian vegetation, and photographed within the Horseshoe allotment, 

including the archeological site at Pueblo la Plata, and riparian areas of the Agua Fria River, 

Silver Creek, and Long Gulch. Mr. Bugbee has visited each of the five allotments annually 

since 2020, engaging in recreational wildlife watching and tracking, and collecting 

scientific data pertaining to rare endemic fauna. Mr. Bugbee has planned a Spring 2024 

visit to the five allotments to hike, observe wildlife, enjoy archeological artifacts and pre-

Puebloan structures, and explore. 

18. Dr. Silver has been visiting the five allotments within the Agua Fria National 

Monument since at least 1968 to enjoy hiking, photographing scenery and wildlife, viewing 

wildlife and signs of wildlife, and engaging in other scientific and recreational activities. 

Dr. Silver’s most recent visits include a trip to the Horseshoe Allotment on January 2, 2024 

when he visited riparian areas of Silver Creek and the Agua Fria River, and on March 5, 

2024 when he visited the Agua Fria River within the Horseshoe Allotment. Dr. Silver has 

planned a Spring 2024 visit to the five allotments to once again enjoy the area. 

19. The areas of the five allotments that Mr. Bugbee, Dr. Silver, and other Center 

members intend to continue to use and enjoy include areas where critical habitat for the 

Cuckoo and the Chub has been designated, and where these imperiled animals may still be 

found. The aesthetic, recreational, inspirational, spiritual, scientific, and educational 

interests of Mr. Bugbee, Dr. Silver, and other Center members have been and will continue 

to be adversely affected and irreparably injured if Defendants’ ongoing violations of the 

ESA continue. These are actual, ongoing, concrete injuries caused by Defendants’ ESA 

violations. The relief sought will redress these injuries. 

20. Plaintiff MARICOPA AUDUBON SOCIETY is a nonprofit organization 

with more than 3,000 members dedicated to the study and enjoyment of birds and other 

wildlife, and to the protection and restoration of habitat in the Southwest. Maricopa 

Audubon Society is run by volunteers and strives to protect and restore wildlife habitat 

through education and community involvement. 
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21. Maricopa Audubon Society has undertaken ongoing efforts to protect 

habitats for imperiled species throughout the arid southwest. Maricopa Audubon has 

played a strong role in protecting endangered and threatened species in the southwest 

through public education efforts, field surveys, public field trips, and position papers. 

Maricopa Audubon has been intimately involved in riparian protection efforts throughout 

the Southwest since the 1950s. For example, on February 2, 1998, Maricopa Audubon was 

a petitioner with the Center for Biological Diversity for federal endangered species listing 

protection for the western yellow-billed cuckoo. This action resulted in FWS designating 

the Cuckoo as threatened on October 3, 2014. In addition, Maricopa Audubon conducts 

field trips with members of the organization and non-members from the general public to 

critical habitat areas of species listed under the ESA, including the Cuckoo. 

22. Maricopa Audubon Society brings this action on behalf of itself and its 

adversely affected members, including but not limited to Dr. Robin Silver. The educational, 

scientific, aesthetic, conservation, and recreational interests of Maricopa Audubon’s 

members within the public lands and waters of the five Agua Fria National Monument 

allotments, including Dr. Robin Silver, have been and continue to be harmed by livestock 

grazing. Maricopa Audubon’s members intend to continue using and enjoying the riparian 

areas and critical habitat within the five Agua Fria National Monument allotments, 

including the Spring of 2024. Unless the Court grants the requested relief, Maricopa 

Audubon’s members will continue to be adversely affected and irreparably injured by 

Defendants’ failures to comply with the law. The requested relief would redress these 

injuries. 

23. Defendant UNITED STATES BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT is an 

agency within the Department of the Interior, and has issued grazing authorizations 

including term grazing permits, allotment management plans, and/or annual operating 

instructions for livestock grazing within the five allotments. Like all federal agencies, BLM 

must comply with all applicable ESA requirements, including the ongoing duty to comply 

with ESA Section 7 requirements in relation to those authorizations. 
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24. Defendant UNITED STATES FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE is the 

agency within the Department of the Interior that is charged with implementing the ESA, 

and shares responsibility with BLM for reinitiating and completing consultation under ESA 

Section 7 in relation to the grazing authorizations. 

LEGAL BACKGROUND 

I. THE ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT 

25. The Congress enacted the Endangered Species Act in 1973 to provide “a 

program for the conservation of ... endangered species and threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1531(b). The ESA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1544, is “the most comprehensive legislation for 

the preservation of endangered species ever enacted by any nation.” Tenn. Valley Auth. v. 

Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 180 (1978). Its fundamental purposes are “to provide a means whereby 

the ecosystems upon which endangered species and threatened species depend may be 

conserved [and] to provide a program for the conservation of such endangered species and 

threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). 

26. To achieve these objectives, the ESA directs the Secretary of the Interior, 

through FWS, to determine which species of plants and animals are “threatened” and 

“endangered” and place them on the list of protected species. Id. § 1533. An “endangered” 

or “threatened” species is one “in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant 

portion of its range,” or “likely to become endangered in the near future throughout all or 

a significant portion of its range,” respectively. Id. § 1532(6), (20).  

27. Once a species is listed, the ESA provides procedural and substantive 

protections to ensure the species’ continued survival, and its ultimate recovery, including 

the designation of critical habitat, the preparation and implementation of recovery plans, 

the prohibition against the “taking” of listed species, and the requirement for interagency 

consultation. 16 U.S.C. §§ 1533(a)(3), 1533(f), 1536, 1538. “Critical habitat” is the area 

that contains the physical or biological features essential to the “conservation” of the 

species and which may require special protection or management considerations. Id. 

§ 1532(5)(A). 
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28. ESA Section 7(a)(1) requires each federal agency, in consultation with FWS, 

to carry out programs for the conservation of threatened and endangered species. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(a)(1). The ESA defines “conserve” and “conservation” to mean “the use of all 

methods and procedures which are necessary to bring any endangered species or threatened 

species to the point at which the measure provided pursuant to this chapter are no longer 

necessary.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(3). 

29. ESA Section 7(a)(2) requires that “[e]ach Federal agency shall, in 

consultation with … [FWS], [e]nsure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by 

such agency ... is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species 

or threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of [critical 

habitat].” Id. § 1536(a)(2). This Section 7(a)(2) consultation process has been described as 

the “heart of the ESA.” W. Watersheds Project v. Kraayenbrink, 632 F.3d 472, 495 (9th 

Cir. 2011). 

30. FWS’s regulations define an agency “action” to mean “all activities or 

programs of any kind authorized, funded, or carried out, in whole or in part, by Federal 

agencies.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.02. 

31. During the consultation process, federal agencies must “use the best 

scientific and commercial data available.” Id. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(d). 

32. For each proposed action, the action agency must request from FWS whether 

any listed or proposed species may be present in the area of the proposed action. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(c)(1); 50 C.F.R. § 402.12(c). If listed or proposed species may be present in the 

project area, the action agency must prepare a “biological assessment” to determine 

whether the listed species may be affected by the proposed action. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(c)(1); 

50 C.F.R. § 402.12. 

33. If the action agency determines that its proposed action may affect any listed 

species or critical habitat, the agency must normally engage in “formal consultation” with 

FWS. 50 C.F.R. § 402.14. However, the agency need not initiate formal consultation if, as 

a result of the preparation of a biological assessment or as a result of informal consultation 
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with FWS, the agency determines, with FWS’s written concurrence, that the proposed 

action is not likely to adversely affect any listed species or critical habitat. Id. §§ 402.13, 

402.14(b)(1). 

34. To complete the formal Section 7 consultation process, FWS must provide 

the action agency with a “biological opinion” explaining how the proposed action will 

affect listed species and/or critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(h). 

35. If FWS concludes in the biological opinion that the proposed action is likely 

to jeopardize the continued existence of a listed species, or result in the destruction or 

adverse modification of critical habitat, FWS must suggest “reasonable and prudent 

alternatives” to avoid those results. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(3)(A); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(h)(2). 

36. If FWS concludes in the biological opinion that the action is not likely to 

jeopardize the continued existence of a listed species, or result in the destruction or adverse 

modification of critical habitat, the agency must provide an “incidental take statement” 

with the biological opinion, specifying the amount or extent of such incidental taking on 

the species and any “reasonable and prudent measures” that FWS considers necessary or 

appropriate to minimize such impact, and setting forth the “terms and conditions” that must 

be complied with by the action agency to implement those measures. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i). 

37. The reinitiation of formal consultation under the ESA is required and must 

be requested by FWS or the action agency for agency actions over which the action agency 

retains, or is authorized to exercise, discretionary involvement or control, if: (1) the amount 

or extent of taking specified in the incidental take statement is exceeded; (2) new 

information reveals effects of the action that may affect listed species or critical habitat in 

a manner or to an extent not previously considered; (3) the identified action is subsequently 

modified in a manner that causes an effect to the listed species or critical habitat that was 

not considered in the biological opinion or written concurrence; or (4) a new species is 

listed or critical habitat designated that may be affected by the identified action. 50 C.F.R. 

§ 402.16(a)(1)-(4). 
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38. After the initiation or reinitiation of Section 7 consultation, the action agency 

is prohibited from making “any irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources with 

respect to the agency action which has the effect of foreclosing the formulation or 

implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative measures which would not 

violate subsection (a)(2).” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d). 

BACKGROUND 

I. THE AGUA FRIA NATIONAL MONUMENT 

39. On January 11, 2000, Presidential Proclamation 7263 created the Agua Fria 

National Monument, which is located in southeastern Yavapai County in Arizona. The 

Monument contains 70,900 acres of BLM-administered federal lands and 1,444 acres of 

private land. Proclamation 7263, 65 Fed. Reg. 2817 (Jan. 18, 2000). 

40. The Agua Fria National Monument includes one of the most significant 

systems of prehistoric sites in the Southwest, as well as outstanding biological resources.  

The Monument is primarily composed of semi-desert grassland, and includes important 

riparian habitat along the Agua Fria River, Silver Creek, and other tributaries. Threatened 

and endangered species, particularly the Cuckoo and Chub, depend on this riparian habitat 

for survival. 

II. LIVESTOCK GRAZING THREATENS RIPARIAN VALUES AND 
WILDLIFE HABITAT. 

41. Scientific study on the impacts of livestock grazing on aquatic and riparian 

habitats in the Southwest is extensive, and universally shows severe and lasting negative 

impacts such that complete exclusion of cattle is widely accepted as a minimum baseline 

management strategy in preserving stream health. Livestock grazing has both direct and 

indirect effects on streams, and is a leading cause of species endangerment in the 

Southwest, including the ESA-listed species within the Agua Fria National Monument.  

42. Livestock directly harm riparian habitat through removal of riparian 

vegetation. Loss of riparian vegetation in turn raises water temperatures, reduces bank 
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stability, and eliminates an important structural component of the stream environment that 

contributes to the formation of pools. 

43. Grazing physically alters streambanks through trampling and shearing, 

leading to bank erosion. In combination, loss of riparian vegetation and bank erosion can 

alter channel morphology, resulting in downcutting and an increased width/depth ratio, all 

of which lead to a loss of pool habitats and shallow side and backwater habitats. 

44. Livestock also indirectly damage aquatic and riparian habitats by compacting 

soils, altering soil chemistry, and reducing vegetation cover in upland areas, leading to 

increased severity of floods and sediment loading, lower water tables, and altered channel 

morphology. 

45. One consequence of these impacts to watersheds is a reduction in the quantity 

and quality of pool habitat. A lowered water table, for example, results in direct loss of 

pool habitats, simply because water is not available to form pools. Increased erosion results 

in filling of pools with sediments. Channel incision and increased flood severity both can 

scour out pools, reducing habitat complexity and resulting in shallow, uniform streambeds, 

all of which harms the species at issue in this suit. 

46. The U.S. Department of Justice has recognized that: “It is well-settled that 

cattle and riparian areas do not mix.” U.S. Department of Justice Environment and Natural 

Resources Division Senior Trial Attorney Andrew A. Smith, Hearing, New Mexico Cattle 

Growers’ Association, et al. v. United States Forest Service, et al., 1:23-cv-00150-JB-

GBW (D. N.M. Feb. 1, 2024). 

III. THE 2006 BIOLOGICAL OPINIONS 

47. On December 18, 2006, FWS issued a Biological Opinion concerning the 

effects of the Agua Fria National Monument and Bradshaw-Harquahala Resource 

Management Plan on the endangered Gila topminnow, desert pupfish, the Chub, and the 

Chub’s critical habitat. 

48. The December 2006 Biological Opinion covers primarily broad land use 

plan-level and program-level actions. According to FWS, most site-specific projects 
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implemented under the Resource Management Plan would require separate ESA Section 7 

analyses and consultation. 

49. According to the December 2006 Biological Opinion, the Resource 

Management Plan allows the issuance of 104 livestock grazing authorizations, and 

authorizes seasonal grazing only (November 1 to March 1 annually) in riparian areas within 

the Agua Fria National Monument. 

50. According to the December 2006 Biological Opinion, the effects of cattle 

grazing on the Chub would be evaluated in a separate biological opinion, which it identified 

as the November 2, 2006 Biological Opinion discussed below. 

51. FWS concluded in the December 2006 Biological Opinion that the Resource 

Management Plan “is neither likely to jeopardize the continued existence of the three listed 

species, nor likely to adversely modify or destroy Gila chub critical habitat.” 

52. FWS included an Incidental Take Statement in the December 2006 

Biological Opinion. FWS states that livestock grazing effects to the Chub and its critical 

habitat in the action area would be addressed in the November 2, 2006 Biological Opinion. 

53. The November 2006 Biological Opinion concerns the effects of livestock 

grazing within the Agua Fria National Monument on the Chub and its critical habitat. FWS 

designated the Chub as an endangered species in 2005. The November 2006 Biological 

Opinion included consideration of the impact to Chub caused by BLM’s authorization of 

livestock grazing on the Horseshoe, Box Bar, and Cross Y Allotments. 

54. The November 2006 Biological Opinion states that the Chub and its critical 

habitat are present in Silver Creek, within the Boone Pasture of the Horseshoe Allotment. 

According to the November 2006 Biological Opinion, cattle grazing in the winter of 2005 

and the spring of 2006 led to overuse in Silver Creek in the Boone Pasture. A two-mile 

reach of Silver Creek was rated as “Functioning-at-Risk,” with a downward trend as result 

of “recent excessive livestock use.” This overuse damaged riparian and aquatic habitat. 

55. Due to this excessive livestock use, all livestock grazing was to be removed 

from the Horseshoe Allotment for at least two years, from November 2006 to November 
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2008. And if resumed, grazing in the Horseshoe Allotment was required to be restricted to 

the winter season, from November 1 to March 1, with livestock rotated through three 

different winter riparian pastures during this time.  

56. The November 2006 Biological Opinion requires BLM to annually monitor 

the Chub’s habitat in Silver Creek, within one month after livestock are moved into and 

within one month after they are moved out of the Horseshoe Allotment’s Boone Pasture. 

57. Pursuant to the November 2006 Biological Opinion, ESA consultation was 

required to be reinitiated if cattle grazing exceeded established thresholds (40% upland 

utilization, 50% riparian herbaceous utilization, 25% bank alteration, 30% woody riparian 

seedling utilization) at any time in the life of the grazing permit. The November 2006 

Biological Opinion also required BLM to fence Silver Creek and exclude livestock grazing 

if cattle grazing exceeded the utilization levels.  

58. FWS concluded in the November 2006 Biological Opinion that livestock 

grazing would not jeopardize the continued existence of the Chub, and would not adversely 

modify or destroy its critical habitat. FWS’s conclusion assumed that the Horseshoe 

Allotment would be in non-use from 2006 to 2008, and then managed as fall-winter use 

only (grazing authorized only from November 1 to March 1), with livestock rotated through 

three different riparian pastures to prevent extended periods of cattle use in Silver Creek.  

59. The November 2006 Biological Opinion includes an Incidental Take 

Statement, which states that it did not anticipate any take of the Chub from the proposed 

action in Larry Creek and Lousy Canyon. FWS further stated that it anticipated that indirect 

take associated with temporary increases of sedimentation, and direct take, of the Chub 

would occur at a level that would result in no more than ten dead or dying fish, of any 

species, being observable near cattle crossing in Silver or Indian Creeks, or within 600 

yards downstream of cattle activity. 

60. In order to monitor the amount of Chub incidental take, the November 2006 

Biological Opinion required BLM to provide an annual monitoring report to FWS 

Case 4:24-cv-00141-RM   Document 1   Filed 03/12/24   Page 14 of 40



 

15 

 

 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

regarding the Chub’s population status and the condition of its critical habitat at Silver 

Creek and Indian Creek, including riparian vegetation use levels and streambank alteration.  

61. The annual report was required to include any incidences of fish deaths, 

harm, or harassment related to livestock, and measures used to reduce the amount of 

incidental take. The annual report was also required to include the results of any soil, 

watershed, or ecological condition assessments completed, including monitoring of the 

established utilization thresholds. 

62. On April 22, 2010, BLM issued a Record of Decision on the “Approved 

Resource Management Plan” for the Agua Fria National Monument. For ESA Section 7 

consultation on the 2010 Approved Resource Management Plan, BLM relied on the 

December 2006 Biological Opinion on the Agua Fria National Monument and Bradshaw-

Harquahala Resource Management Plan.   
 
IV. ARIZONA GAME AND FISH DEPARTMENT’S PURCHASE OF 

HORSESHOE RANCH 

63. In 2007, the Arizona Game and Fish Department proposed to purchase the 

Horseshoe Ranch and associated allotments, which included the Horseshoe Allotment on 

BLM-administered lands and the Copper Creek Allotment on the Tonto National Forest.   

64. Horseshoe Ranch (198.6 acres), along with the Horseshoe Allotment (32,388 

acres), are located inside the Agua Fria National Monument. The Agua Fria River runs 

through Horseshoe Ranch. 

65. The Arizona Game and Fish Department viewed the acquisition as an 

opportunity to more effectively manage habitat for threatened and endangered species. 

66. The Department purchased the Ranch in 2009. 

67. A portion of the funding to purchase the Ranch was provided by the U.S. 

Fish and Wildlife Service. 
 
V. THE 2018 ESA INFORMAL CONSULTATION ON THE HORSESHOE 

ALLOTMENT RENEWAL 

68. On October 1, 2018, BLM issued a Biological Assessment, pursuant to ESA 

Section 7, concerning the Horseshoe Allotment Grazing Authorization Renewal. The 
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Assessment considered the effects of renewing a ten-year grazing permit on the Horseshoe 

Allotment on threatened and endangered species, and critical habitat. The Horseshoe 

Grazing Allotment is located entirely within the Agua Fria National Monument. 

69. According to the 2018 Biological Assessment, the Horseshoe Allotment was 

sublet in 2012 by the Arizona Game and Fish Department to JH Grassfed Inc, and livestock 

grazing resumed on the allotment. Since the resumption of grazing in 2012, the amount of 

authorized livestock on the Horseshoe Allotment has been 4572 Animal Unit Months 

(which is equivalent to 381 cow-calf pairs grazing year around).   

70. BLM’s 2018 Biological Assessment assumes that livestock are authorized to 

use riparian pastures within the Horseshoe Allotment only during the “non-growing” 

season (November 1 to March 1). 

71. BLM’s 2018 Biological Assessment states that multiple threatened and 

endangered species can be found at various locations within the Horseshoe Allotment. The 

endangered Chub occupies portions of Silver Creek and Larry Creek tributary. The 

threatened Cuckoo is known to breed in riparian areas surrounding the Agua Fria River, 

Indian Creek, and Silver Creek. 

72. The 2018 Biological Assessment asserts that critical habitat for the Chub 

within Silver Creek did not support the Chub at that time due to the influx of sediment from 

the 2005 Cave Creek Complex Fire. BLM contended that the vast majority of the critical 

habitat was covered in sediment, which resulted in a near total loss of surface flows except 

for a small number of isolated pools, which were devoid of fish. 

73. The 2018 Biological Assessment’s assertion that the Cave Creek fire resulted 

in Silver Creek not supporting the Chub at that time ignores the impacts of livestock on 

Chub habitat. After the fire, when livestock were excluded from Silver Creek, the riparian 

area significantly recovered. That recovery was reversed after BLM failed to prevent 

livestock from eliminating most riparian habitat from upper Silver Creek in the late 2010s.  
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74. The 2018 Biological Assessment assumes that the Chub’s critical habitat 

within Silver Creek would be excluded from livestock grazing, except for a 50-meter 

hardened crossing site at the 9023A road. 

75. The 2018 Biological Assessment includes vegetative use thresholds for 

grazing in the Horseshoe Allotment, including that riparian herbaceous use is limited to 

50% of plant species biomass and maintenance of 6-8 inches of stubble height for emergent 

species such as rushes, sedges, cattails, and horsetails, measured during grazing season. 

According to the Biological Assessment, it is the responsibility of the permittee to ensure 

that livestock grazing does not exceed vegetative use thresholds. 

76. The 2018 Biological Assessment includes conservation measures for the 

threatened and endangered species, including that livestock grazing would be limited to 

November 1 to March 1 in certain riparian pastures, and the use of riparian vegetation 

would be limited to no more than 4-6 inches of stubble height and 50 percent use of aquatic 

emergent vegetation. Livestock was required to be removed prior to the exceedance of the 

stubble height, aquatic emergent, and riparian utilization thresholds. 

77. Pursuant to the Biological Assessment, BLM is required to complete at least 

two compliance checks annually between March 1 and November 1 to ensure that the 

livestock pasture fences are effective at excluding livestock from riparian pastures and 

exclosures. The grazing permittee is responsible for maintaining and repairing the 

Horseshoe Allotment’s fences.  

78. BLM’s 2018 Biological Assessment determines that the Horseshoe 

Allotment Grazing Authorization Renewal “may affect, but is not likely to adversely 

affect” the Cuckoo and the Chub.   

79. BLM’s 2018 Biological Assessment concludes that the adverse impacts to 

the threatened and endangered species would be insignificant due to the implementation of 

conservation measures detailed in the Biological Assessment, including those mentioned 

above: limitations to the season of use in riparian pastures, except for riparian areas where 
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livestock grazing would be excluded; limitations on livestock “use” of certain vegetation 

types; monitoring; compliance checks; fence inspections; etc. 

80. On November 6, 2018, FWS issued a Letter of Concurrence for the ten-year 

renewal of livestock grazing on the Horseshoe Allotment. The Concurrence confirmed that 

the renewal would allow grazing to continue on the Horseshoe Allotment for ten years, and 

for up to 4,572 animal unit months.  

81. According to FWS’s Letter of Concurrence, “because of the drought and 

Cave Creek Complex Fire, some riparian sites, especially Silver Creek, which experienced 

heavy sediment loads, are not properly functioning.”  

82. FWS’s Letter of Concurrence states that the “conservative utilization 

thresholds” would apply to grazing on the Horseshoe Allotment, including a limit of 50% 

of plant species biomass and maintenance of 6-8 inches of stubble height for emerging 

species for riparian herbaceous species.  

83. FWS’s Concurrence requires BLM to measure livestock utilization of 

important riparian areas within the Horseshoe Allotment seasonally, while livestock are in 

the pasture, to ensure that vegetation does not exceed identified thresholds. 

84. FWS’s Concurrence also requires BLM to inspect riparian pasture fences, 

including a permanent exclosure fence around a segment of Silver Creek, before allowing 

livestock into that pasture. BLM must also inspect fences after moving livestock out of the 

pasture. And BLM must check riparian fences following high flow events, and carry out 

bi-annual checks in addition to the permittee’s monitoring. 

85. FWS’s Concurrence further requires BLM to follow its drought policy using 

the annual seasonal cycle of grazing to determine drought-caused circumstances or 

resource conditions. 

86. Pursuant to FWS’s Concurrence, if BLM finds that the exclosure fence is not 

keeping livestock out of Silver Creek or riparian pastures during the growing season, BLM 

must adjust the fence monitoring or management strategy and consider reinitiating 

consultation. 
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87. Pursuant to the conservation measures included in FWS’s Concurrence, 

BLM is required to construct a permanent exclosure fence to prevent year-round grazing 

at Silver Creek and associated springs. 

88. FWS’s Concurrence also requires that BLM must suspend surface water 

diversions at Indian and Silver creeks and the Agua Fria River to increase surface water 

flow. 

89. Additionally, livestock grazing in riparian areas will occur only in the winter 

“non-growing” season (November 1 to March 1). 

90. Based on the mitigation and conservation measures, FWS concurred with 

BLM’s determination that the Horseshoe Allotment Renewal “may affect, but is not likely 

to adversely affect” Cuckoo, Chub, and other wildlife, or associated critical habitat.  

91. FWS did not consider within the 2018 Letter of Concurrence whether or not 

BLM had complied with the monitoring requirements, use restrictions, and thresholds that 

were included within and required by the 2006 Biological Opinion. 
 
VI. BLM’S 2020 ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DECISION ON 

THE HORSESHOE ALLOTMENT GRAZING AUTHORIZATION 
RENEWAL 

92. In September 2020, BLM issued a Final Environmental Assessment, Finding 

of No Significant Impact, and Notice of Proposed Decision for the “Horseshoe Allotment 

Grazing Authorization Renewal,” which would renew the Allotment grazing authorization 

for ten years.  

93. The Center submitted a Letter of Protest to that proposed decision on 

September 26, 2020. 

94. On November 19, 2020, BLM issued a Notice of Final Decision for the 

Horseshoe Allotment. BLM decided to implement the Proposed Action: to authorize 

livestock grazing use on the Horseshoe Allotment with a term of ten years beginning March 

1, 2021. BLM issued the permit to the permittee in May 2021. 

95. According to BLM’s permits schedule database, the permit has a lease 

expiration date of February 28, 2031. 
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VII. THE RENEWALS OF THE BOX BAR, E-Z RANCH, 2Y, AND SYCAMORE 
ALLOTMENTS 

96. According to BLM’s online permits schedule database, and on information 

and belief, BLM in 2023 issued a ten-year renewal of the 2Y Allotment, with a permit start 

date of March 1, 2023, and permit end date of February 28, 2033. On information and 

belief, BLM did not perform any NEPA analysis, nor did it consult with FWS concerning 

the impacts of authorizing livestock grazing on this allotment on listed species and critical 

habitat prior to issuing the renewal. 

97. According to BLM’s online permits schedule database, and on information 

and belief, BLM in 2016 issued a ten-year renewal of the E-Z Ranch Allotment, with a 

permit start date of March 1, 2016, and permit end date of February 28, 2026. On 

information and belief, BLM did not perform any NEPA analysis, nor did it consult with 

FWS concerning the impacts of this allotment on listed species and critical habitat prior to 

issuing the renewal.  

98. According to BLM’s online permits schedule database, and on information 

and belief, BLM in 2016 issued a ten-year renewal of the Sycamore Allotment, with a 

permit start date of March 1, 2016, and permit end date of February 28, 2026. On 

information and belief, BLM did not perform any NEPA analysis, nor did it consult with 

FWS concerning the impacts of this allotment on listed species and critical habitat prior to 

issuing the renewal.  

99. According to BLM’s online permits schedule database, and on information 

and belief, BLM in 2018 issued a ten-year renewal of the Box Bar Allotment, with a permit 

starting date of March 1, 2018, and permit end date of February 28, 2028. On information 

and belief, BLM did not perform any NEPA analysis, nor did it consult with FWS 

concerning the impacts of this allotment on listed species and critical habitat prior to 

issuing the renewal.  
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VIII. NEW INFORMATION IN 2021 AND 2022 REVEALS EFFECTS OF 
LIVESTOCK GRAZING WITHIN THE FIVE AGUA FRIA NATIONAL 
MONUMENT LIVESTOCK GRAZING ALLOTMENTS IN A MANNER 
AND TO AN EXTENT NOT CONSIDERED IN THE 2006 BIOLOGICAL 
OPINIONS, OR THE 2018 LETTER OF CONCURRENCE FOR THE 
HORSESHOE ALLOTMENT. 

100. Staff of the Center for Biological Diversity conducted field surveys in the 

Horseshoe Allotment of the Agua Fria National Monument in February and March 2021. 

101. As the Center explained in a May 6, 2021 letter to BLM, these surveys 

documented destructive cattle grazing within the Silver Creek, Long Gulch, and Agua Fria 

River riparian areas. These surveys showed that cattle grazing on the Horseshoe Allotment 

had grossly exceeded utilization of herbaceous riparian areas and was chronically occurring 

outside of the permitted grazing season in riparian areas on the Horseshoe Allotment.  

102. The Center’s surveys demonstrated that the use thresholds were not being 

adhered to on the Horseshoe Allotment, and that the result is chronic degradation of 

ecological conditions within designated critical habitat on the Agua Fria National 

Monument. 

103. Cattle were again observed by Center staff in the Agua Fria River and 

riparian habitat on April 4, 2021, outside of the “non-growing” season (November 1 to 

March 1), when livestock are prohibited in such habitat. 

104. On August 10, 2021, a biologist on contract with the Center returned to the 

Horseshoe Allotment to survey conditions at Silver Creek and a section of the Agua Fria 

River, and found that cattle had still been accessing, using, and degrading the riparian 

habitat, including designated critical habitat, even though cattle are required to be excluded 

from these areas during this time of the year. 

105. On December 19, 2021 and January 4, 2022, Center staff returned to the 

Agua Fria National Monument. Center staff conducted Cattle Impact Surveys on the Agua 

Fria River and Indian Creek on the northern end of the Monument. Center staff observed 

that cattle impacts in both stream segments were severe, continuous, and pervasive. The 
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entirety of the riparian areas surveyed showed signs of heavy grazing and stream-bank 

erosion. 

106. From March 2 to March 15, 2022, a biologist on contract with the Center 

conducted Cattle Impact Surveys within designated critical habitat in the Box Bar, E-Z 

Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments, all within the Agua Fria National Monument. 

During the March 2022 surveys, the Center documented extensive cattle grazing impacts 

to riparian vegetation, soils, and streambanks. The Center also documented nonfunctional 

and absent exclosure fencing. The Center further documented that grazing was chronically 

occurring outside of permitting grazing seasons in riparian areas within the Agua Fria 

National Monument. 

107. During the March 2022 surveys, the Center recorded data and took 

georeferenced photos to document evidence of livestock impacts. The surveys documented 

chronic degradation of ecological conditions within designated critical habitat, within the 

Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments of the Agua Fria National Monument. 

IX. PLAINTIFFS’ 2021 AND 2022 ESA NOTICE LETTERS, 2022 LITIGATION, 
AND THE AGENCIES’ ASSERTED REINITIATION OF CONSULTATION 

108. On June 14, 2021, Plaintiffs sent a sixty-day notice letter to the Secretary of 

Interior, and to FWS and BLM, identifying the ESA violations observed in 2021, pursuant 

to the ESA’s citizen suit provision. 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g). 

109. FWS and BLM responded to Plaintiffs’ notice letter on August 13, 2021. The 

agencies claimed that they had not received any significant new information, and that they 

were unable to confirm that photos of cattle provided by the Plaintiffs were on BLM 

managed lands. The agencies also stated that that they were working to ensure compliance 

with the requirements set forth in in the Horseshoe Allotment 2018 Letter of Concurrence, 

and that “the Silver Creek fence will soon be ready for installation.”  

110. Plaintiffs provided FWS and BLM with a supplemental notice letter on 

August 26, 2021 providing extensive and detailed documentation of destructive cattle 

grazing within the riparian areas of Silver Creek, Long Gulch, and the Agua Fria River, 
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within the Agua Fria National Monument. The agencies did not respond to Plaintiffs’ 

supplemental notice letter.  

111. On January 12, 2022, the Center and Maricopa Audubon Society filed suit 

against BLM and FWS alleging that livestock grazing within the Horseshoe Allotment was 

occurring in violation of the ESA and APA. See Complaint, Center for Biological Diversity 

v. Bureau of Land Management, 3:22-cv-8005-SMB (D. Ariz, Jan. 12, 2022). 

112. Plaintiffs provided FWS and BLM with a second notice letter concerning the 

Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments on May 9, 2022. The notice letter 

provided extensive information and documentation concerning the Center’s March 2022 

surveys of these allotments, which demonstrated damage to critical habitat, livestock 

grazing in riparian areas in the “non-growing” season, contrary to the Concurrence, and 

other violations of the ESA. 

113. Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on July 11, 2022 in their pending 

action, which included new information from the May 9, 2022 notice letter, and alleged 

that livestock grazing was occurring within five allotments (the Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z 

Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments) of the Agua Fria National Monument in violation 

of the ESA. Amended Complaint, Center for Biological Diversity v. Bureau of Land 

Management, 3:22-cv-8005-SMB (D. Ariz, July 11, 2022). 

114. On July 15, 2022, BLM sent a memorandum to FWS that “serves as a pre-

notice that we intend to seek consultation” on the five allotments within the Agua Fria 

National Monument. The memo stated “The Bureau of Land Management is planning to 

develop a Biological Assessment (BA) that will provide details on existing grazing 

activities” on the five allotments. 

115. Prior to any briefing on the merits or other motions practice, Plaintiffs and 

Defendants (FWS and BLM) filed a stipulated settlement agreement in Center for 

Biological Diversity v. Bureau of Land Management, 3:22-cv-8005-SMB (D. Ariz.). The 

Center and Maricopa Audubon Society agreed to dismiss their case without prejudice, in 

part because FWS and BLM committed that:  
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since the filing of Plaintiffs’ amended complaint [July 11, 2022], BLM has 
reinitiated consultation with the Service under Section 7(a)(2) of the Endangered 
Species Act to cover all [five] of the grazing allotments identified in Plaintiffs’ 
[amended] complaint,  

Stipulated Settlement Agreement, Center for Biological Diversity v. Bureau of Land 

Management, 3:22-cv-8005-SMB (D. Ariz, Oct. 14, 2022) at page 2. The five grazing 

allotments identified in the settlement are the Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and 

Sycamore Allotments. Id. 

X.  NEW INFORMATION IN 2023 AND 2024 REVEALS EFFECTS OF 
LIVESTOCK GRAZING WITHIN THE FIVE AGUA FRIA NATIONAL 
MONUMENT LIVESTOCK GRAZING ALLOTMENTS IN A MANNER 
AND TO AN EXTENT NOT CONSIDERED IN THE 2006 BIOLOGICAL 
OPINIONS, OR THE 2018 LETTER OF CONCURRENCE FOR THE 
HORSESHOE ALLOTMENT 

116. In March and April of 2023, months after BLM and FWS alleged that they 

had reinitiated consultation on livestock grazing within the five allotments, a biologist 

contracted by the Center returned to the five allotments within the Agua Fria National 

Monument. There the surveyor observed destruction of riparian habitat, livestock grazing 

in riparian areas outside of the permitted “non-growing” season, and livestock within areas 

where livestock are to be excluded year-round, all in violation of the relevant biological 

opinions, biological assessment, and/or concurrence for the relevant allotments. 

117. On November 30, 2023, Plaintiffs submitted to FWS and BLM a sixty-day 

notice letter that provided extensive and detailed documentation, gathered during the 

Center’s March and April surveys, demonstrating destructive cattle grazing within the 

riparian areas of Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments within 

the Agua Fria National Monument, in violation of the relevant ESA consultation 

documents and the ESA itself.  

118. For example, the November 2023 notice letter provided photographic 

evidence of unauthorized cattle impacts, and unauthorized livestock presence, in Cuckoo 

riparian critical breeding habitat in the Agua Fria River, within the Horseshoe allotment. 

See exemplar photos below. 
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(L) Unauthorized cattle and streambank degradation in yellow-billed cuckoo riparian 
critical breeding habitat in the Agua Fria River, Horseshoe allotment. April 6, 2023. 
(R) Unauthorized cattle impacts in yellow-billed cuckoo riparian critical breeding 

habitat in the Agua Fria River, Horseshoe allotment. April 6, 2023. 
 

119. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

unauthorized cattle impacts, and unauthorized livestock presence, in Gila chub riparian 

critical habitat and in Cuckoo critical habitat in Silver Creek, where livestock are to be 

excluded year-round, within the Horseshoe allotment. See exemplar photos below. 

  
(L) Unauthorized cattle impacts in Gila chub critical habitat in Silver Creek on the 

Horseshoe allotment, March 28, 2023; (R) Unauthorized cattle impacts in yellow-billed 
cuckoo critical breeding habitat in Silver Creek, Horseshoe allotment, March 28 2023. 
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120. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

unauthorized cattle impacts in Cuckoo critical breeding habitat in Indian Creek, within the 

Horseshoe allotment. See exemplar photo below. 
 

 
Fresh tracks from unauthorized cattle in yellow-billed cuckoo critical breeding habitat in 

Indian Creek, Horseshoe allotment, April 6, 2023. 

121. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

ineffective fencing and unauthorized cattle impacts in Chub and Cuckoo critical habitat in 

Indian Creek, and damage to Cuckoo critical habitat along the Agua Fria River within the 

Box Bar allotment. See exemplar photos below. 
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Unauthorized cattle impacts in Gila chub and yellow-billed cuckoo critical habitat in 

Indian Creek, Box Bar allotment, April 3, 2023. 
 

  
(L) A nonfunctioning water gap in yellow-billed cuckoo critical riparian habitat in 

Indian Creek, Box Bar Allotment, April 3, 2023. (R) Degraded, grazed yellow-billed 
cuckoo critical habitat along the Agua Fria River, Box Bar Allotment, March 23, 2023. 

 

122. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

livestock grazing damaging and causing adverse modification to Cuckoo critical habitat 

along Little Ash Creek within the E-Z Ranch Allotment. See exemplar photos below. 
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(L) Grazed and degraded yellow-billed cuckoo critical breeding habitat along Little Ash 
Creek, E-Z Ranch Allotment, March 29, 2023; (R) Unauthorized cattle sign in yellow-
billed cuckoo critical habitat along Dry Creek, E-Z Ranch allotment, March 29, 2023. 

 

123. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

livestock grazing damage and adverse modification of western yellow-billed cuckoo 

critical habitat along Little Ash Creek and Sycamore Creek within the 2Y Allotment. See 

exemplar photos below. 

  
(L) Livestock damage in yellow-billed cuckoo critical habitat along Little Ash Creek, 2Y 

Allotment, March 29, 2023; (R) Livestock damage in yellow-billed cuckoo critical habitat 
along Sycamore Creek, 2Y Allotment, March 30, 2023. 

 

124. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

livestock grazing damage and adverse modification of Cuckoo critical habitat along 

Sycamore Creek within the Sycamore Allotment. See exemplar photos below. 
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Yellow-billed cuckoo critical riparian breeding habitat adversely modified by livestock 

along Sycamore Creek in the Sycamore Allotment. March 30, 2023. 

125. The November 2023 notice letter reported that the Center’s professional field 

biologists documented livestock grazing impacts to standing waters, streambanks, riparian 

vegetation, upland vegetation, and soils and examined condition of cattle fencing. Using 

this survey data, stream reaches were then analyzed and ranked with absent, light, moderate 

or significant grazing impacts. Surveys covered approximately 24.41 miles of riparian 

habitat along streams, 16.56 miles (or 68%) of which were significantly impacted by cattle 

grazing. The November 2023 notice letter stated that the Center’s 2023 surveys 

demonstrated continued adverse damage to both riparian and upland plant communities 

from livestock grazing in designated Chub and Cuckoo Critical Habitat. The map below 

displays the Center’s data in the November 2023 notice letter. 
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XI. NEW LISTING AND CRITICAL HABITAT DESIGNATIONS SINCE THE 

2006 BIOLOGICAL OPINIONS, AND/OR THE 2018 LETTER OF 
CONCURRENCE, WHICH WILL BE AFFECTED BY THE HORSESHOE, 
BOX BAR, E-Z RANCH, 2Y, AND SYCAMORE ALLOTMENTS 

126. On October 3, 2014, FWS issued a new final rule listing the western distinct 

population segment of the yellow-billed cuckoo as a threatened species. 79 Fed. Reg. 

59992 (Oct. 3, 2014). 
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127. On April 21, 2021, FWS issued a new final rule designating critical habitat 

for the western yellow-billed cuckoo, including within the Agua Fria National Monument. 

86 Fed. Reg. 20798 (April 21, 2021). 
 
XII. PLAINTIFFS’ 2023 ESA NOTICE LETTER, SUBSEQUENT SURVEY 

FINDINGS, AND THE AGENCIES’ RESPONSE 

128. On November 30, 2023, more than 16 months after BLM notified FWS that 

“we intend to seek consultation,” and more than a year after FWS and BLM asserted that 

they had reinitiated consultation on the five allotments, Plaintiffs provided FWS and BLM 

with a sixty-day notice letter that provided extensive and detailed documentation, gathered 

during the Center’s March and April 2023 surveys, demonstrating destructive cattle 

grazing within the riparian areas of Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore 

Allotments within the Agua Fria National Monument, in violation of the relevant ESA 

consultation documents and the ESA itself.  

129. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

unauthorized cattle impacts, and unauthorized livestock presence, Cuckoo riparian critical 

breeding habitat in the Agua Fria River, within the Horseshoe allotment. See, e.g., ¶ 118, 

above. 

130. The November 2023 notice letter provided photographic evidence of 

unauthorized cattle impacts, and unauthorized livestock presence, in Chub riparian critical 

habitat and in Cuckoo critical habitat in Silver Creek, where livestock are to be excluded 

year-round, within the Horseshoe allotment. See, e.g., ¶ 119, above. 

131. On January 29, 2024, Mr. Bugbee visited the Horseshoe Allotment and 

observed livestock grazing and livestock impacts within riparian areas of Silver Creek that 

are designated critical habitat for the Chub, and thus where BLM was obligated by the 2018 

biological assessment and concurrence to maintain exclosures barring livestock within the 

area year-round. This indicates that BLM has failed to construct fence or has failed to 

maintain fence as required by BLM’s 2018 biological assessment and FWS’s 2018 

concurrence concerning the Horseshoe Allotment grazing reauthorization. 
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132. On January 30, 2024, FWS and BLM responded to Plaintiffs’ November 30, 

2023 notice letter. That response does not mention or reference the agencies’ commitment 

that BLM had reinitiated consultation with FWS over the five allotments sometime 

between July and October 2022. See ¶¶ 114-115, above. Instead, Defendants attached a 

January 22, 2024 letter from BLM to FWS which states that BLM 
 

is planning to develop a biological assessment … that will provide details on 
existing grazing activities on five allotments in the Agua Fria National 
Monument (AFNM) including Horseshoe, Box Bar, EZ Ranch, Sycamore, 
and 2Y [allotments]…. This is a notice that we intend to seek consultation 
and a BA will be issued following the field data collection season in FY24. 

Emphasis added. BLM’s letter also states: “This BA will supersede the white paper BLM 

provided to the FWS regarding the Horseshoe Allotment in 2023.” BLM’s January 22, 

2024 letter to FWS thus indicates that BLM will not issue a biological assessment, and thus 

will not finalize consultation, until, and some indeterminate date after, the end of an 

undefined “field season” which could end as late as September 30, 2024. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

BLM and FWS Are in Ongoing Violation of the ESA for Failing to Reinitiate and 
Complete Consultation on the Horseshoe Allotment 

133. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

134. ESA Section 7 requires that BLM consult with FWS to ensure that any action 

authorized, funded, or carried out by the agency is not likely to jeopardize the continued 

existence of any threatened or endangered species, or result in the destruction or adverse 

modification of the critical habitat of such species. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). The reinitiation 

of consultation is required and must be requested by FWS or BLM where discretionary 

federal involvement or control over the action has been retained or is authorized by law, 

and if new information reveals effects of the action that may affect listed species or critical 

habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered, the action is modified in a 

manner that causes an effect to the listed species or critical habitat that was not considered 
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in the biological opinion, or a new species is listed or critical habitat designated that may 

be affected by the identified action. 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a). 

135. BLM and FWS have violated and remain in ongoing violation of the ESA by 

failing to reinitiate and complete consultation on the impacts of livestock grazing on the 

Horseshoe Allotment despite significant new information that reveals that grazing on the 

Allotment has adversely affected, and will continue to adversely affect, threatened and 

endangered species and their critical habitat in a manner and to an extent not considered 

within, and/or in violation of, the 2018 Letter of Concurrence, and despite new critical 

habitat being designated for the western yellow-billed cuckoo in April 2021. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a). 

136. The ongoing failure of BLM and FWS to reinitiate and complete consultation 

on the ongoing impacts of the Horseshoe Allotment on threatened and endangered species, 

and critical habitat, violates the ESA. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a). 

137. In the absence of the required reinitiated consultation, BLM is in ongoing 

violation of its obligation under ESA Section 7 to ensure that its actions are not likely to 

jeopardize the continued existence of the Gila chub and yellow-billed cuckoo, or result in 

the destruction or adverse modification of designated critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(a)(2). 

138. Plaintiffs and their members are injured by BLM’s and FWS’s violations of 

ESA Section 7(a)(2) and failure to reinitiate and complete consultation.  

139. BLM’s and FWS’s violations of ESA Section 7(a)(2) are subject to judicial 

review under the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1), and/or the APA, 5 

U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

FWS’s 2018 Letter of Concurrence for the Horseshoe Allotment Is Arbitrary, Capricious, 
and Contrary to the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2) 

140. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

141. In preparing the 2018 Letter of Concurrence, FWS failed to properly consider 

all relevant factors, failed to provide a rational connection between the facts found and the 

agency’s conclusion, and reached a conclusion that runs counter to the facts and evidence 

that was before the agency.   

142. FWS’s determination in the 2018 Letter of Concurrence that the Horseshoe 

Allotment Renewal is not likely to adversely affect any threatened or endangered species, 

or critical habitat, is unsupported, arbitrary, capricious, and inconsistent with the best 

available scientific evidence and information. FWS violated the ESA in preparing the 

November 6, 2018 Letter of Concurrence, 16 U.S.C. § 1536, and the Letter of Concurrence 

is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and contrary to the ESA. 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2)(A).   

143. Additionally, BLM’s reliance on this 2018 Letter of Concurrence violates the 

agency’s independent and continuing duty to ensure that its authorization and 

implementation of the Horseshoe Allotment livestock grazing reauthorization is not likely 

to jeopardize the continued existence of any threatened or endangered species, or result in 

the destruction or adverse modification of designated critical habitat, in violation of ESA 

Section 7. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). 

144. Plaintiffs and their members are injured by BLM’s and FWS’s violations of 

ESA Section 7(a)(2) and failure to reinitiate and complete consultation.  

145. BLM’s and FWS’s violations of ESA Section 7(a)(2) are subject to judicial 

review under the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1), and/or the APA, 5 

U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

BLM and FWS Are in Ongoing Violation of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2), for Failing 
to Reinitiate and Complete Consultation on the Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore 

Allotments 

146. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

147. ESA Section 7 requires BLM to consult with FWS to ensure that any action 

authorized, funded, or carried out by the action agency is not likely to jeopardize the 

continued existence of any threatened or endangered species, or result in the destruction or 

adverse modification of the critical habitat of such species. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). The 

reinitiation of consultation is required and must be requested by FWS or BLM where 

discretionary federal involvement or control over the action has been retained or is 

authorized by law, and if new information reveals effects of the action that may affect listed 

species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered, the action 

is modified in a manner that causes an effect to the listed species or critical habitat that was 

not considered in the biological opinion, or a new species is listed or critical habitat 

designated that may be affected by the identified action. 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a). 

148. BLM and FWS have violated and remain in ongoing violation of the ESA by 

failing to reinitiate and complete consultation on the impacts of livestock grazing on the 

Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments despite significant new information 

that reveals that grazing on the Allotments has adversely affected, and will continue to 

adversely affect, threatened and endangered species and their critical habitat in a manner 

and to an extent not considered within the November 2, 2006 and December 18, 2006 

Biological Opinions, or within any subsequent ESA Section 7 consultations involving these 

allotments. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a)(2).  

149. BLM and FWS have violated and remain in ongoing violation of the ESA by 

failing to reinitiate and complete consultation on the impacts of livestock grazing on the 

Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore Allotments despite the listing of new species and 

the designation of new critical habitat subsequent to the November 2, 2006 and December 

18, 2006 biological opinions, or any related ESA Section 7 consultations, that are being 
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adversely affected by the ongoing livestock grazing on these allotments. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a)(4). 

150. The ongoing failure of BLM and FWS to reinitiate and complete ESA 

Section 7 consultation on the ongoing impacts of the Box Bar, E-Z Ranch, 2Y, and 

Sycamore Allotments on threatened and endangered species, and critical habitat, violates 

the ESA. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a). 

151. In the absence of the required reinitiated consultation, BLM is in ongoing 

violation of its obligation under ESA Section 7 to ensure that its actions are not likely to 

jeopardize the continued existence of the Gila chub and the western yellow-billed cuckoo, 

or result in the destruction or adverse modification of designated critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1536(a)(2). 

152. Plaintiffs and their members are injured by BLM’s and FWS’s violations of 

ESA Section 7(a)(2) and failure to reinitiate and complete consultation.  

153. BLM’s and FWS’s violations of ESA Section 7(a)(2) are subject to judicial 

review under the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1), and/or the APA, 5 

U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Unlawful Irreversible or Irretrievable Commitment of Resources 
Pending Completion of Consultation, in Violation of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d) 

154. Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs by reference. 

155. Cattle continue to access seasonally excluded riparian areas, and areas 

excluded from livestock grazing year-round, within the five Agua Fria National Monument 

grazing allotments, even though BLM and FWS have determined that such exclusion is 

necessary to avoid jeopardizing listed species or the destruction or adverse modification of 

their designated critical habitat. 

156. Further, livestock grazing within the five Agua Fria National Monument 

livestock grazing allotments continues to occur in violation of the terms and conservation 
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measures set forth in the 2006 biological opinions and 2018 biological assessment and 

FWS concurrence. 

157. BLM wrote FWS on July 15, 2022, providing “a pre-notice that [BLM] 

intend[s] to seek consultation” on the impacts of livestock grazing on the five allotments. 

BLM and FWS further stated on October 14, 2022 that BLM had previously reinitiated 

consultation on the five Agua Fria National Monument allotments.  

158. ESA Section 7(d) provides that once an agency initiates or reinitiates 

Section 7 consultation, the agency “shall not make any irreversible or irretrievable 

commitment of resources with respect to the agency action which has the effect of 

foreclosing the formulation or implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative 

measures which would not violate subsection (a)(2).” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d). The purpose of 

Section 7(d) is to prevent harm to endangered species and designated critical habitat 

pending the completion of Section 7 consultation. 

159. BLM has failed to seasonally exclude, and/or exclude year-round, cattle from 

riparian areas within western yellow-billed cuckoo and Gila chub designated critical habitat 

within the five Agua Fria National Monument livestock grazing allotments, or to otherwise 

ensure that livestock grazing occurs in compliance with the 2006 biological opinions and 

2018 biological assessment and FWS concurrence, pending the completion of reinitiated 

consultation, in violation of ESA Section 7(d), 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d). Allowing livestock to 

graze riparian area critical habitat during the pendency of consultation represents an 

irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources. 

160. Plaintiffs and their members are injured by BLM’s violations of ESA 

Section 7(d). 

161. BLM’s violations of ESA Section 7(d) are subject to judicial review under 

the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1), and/or the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-

706. 
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Failure to Develop and Implement a Program to Conserve Listed Species Impacted 
by BLM’s Grazing Program and Unauthorized Grazing, in Violation of the ESA,  

16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1) 

162. Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs by reference.  

163. BLM has violated its affirmative obligation to “engage in” and complete 

“consultation with” FWS so as to “carry[] out programs for the conservation” of listed 

species impacted by its grazing program. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1).  

164. Livestock are, and for years have been, accessing streamside and riparian 

areas within Cuckoo and Chub critical habitat during seasons when livestock grazing is not 

authorized, and are causing widespread and significant damage to habitat occupied by these 

ESA-listed species and their designated critical habitat. 

165. BLM’s actions, if any, to remove unauthorized cattle from streamside and 

riparian areas within the five Agua Fria National Monument livestock grazing allotments 

that are purportedly excluded from livestock year-round, as well as those from those 

pastures where livestock are excluded from March 1 until November 1 have been, at best, 

ineffectual. Fencing intended to exclude cattle is in some places in disrepair, or otherwise 

ineffective. Consequently, cattle are regularly found to access streamside and riparian areas 

that are purportedly excluded from such cattle year-round, and are regularly found in those 

riparian pastures from which they are excluded from March 1 until November 1. Thus, 

livestock grazing continues to result in violations of conservation measures and other terms 

set in the 2006 biological opinions and the 2018 biological assessment and concurrence, 

and to adversely modify critical habitat.  

166. Even if BLM were successful in excluding cattle from streamside and 

riparian areas of critical habitat where they are excluded either year-round or seasonally, 

the agency has failed to develop and implement, in consultation with FWS, corrective 

measures to mitigate the extensive damage livestock grazing has caused to listed species, 

including but not limited to the western yellow-billed cuckoo and the Gila chub, and/or 

their designated critical habitat within the five Agua Fria National Monument livestock 
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grazing allotments. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1). BLM’s failure to “utilize [its] authorities ... by 

carrying out programs for the conservation of endangered species” in consultation with and 

with the assistance of FWS violates ESA Section 7 (a)(1), 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1), and/or 

the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 

167. Plaintiffs and their members are injured by BLM’s violations of ESA 

Section 7(a)(1). 

168. BLM’s violations of ESA Section 7(a)(1) are subject to judicial review under 

the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1), and/or the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-

706. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court: 

1. Declare that BLM and FWS are violating ESA Section 7(a)(2) and 50 C.F.R. 

§ 402.16 by failing to reinitiate and complete consultation on the five livestock grazing 

allotments in the Agua Fria National Monument (including the Horseshoe, Box Bar, E-Z 

Ranch, 2Y, and Sycamore allotments) in order to ensure that livestock grazing activities 

on those allotments do not jeopardize the continued existence of listed species, including 

the Cuckoo and the Chub, or result in the destruction or adverse modification of their 

designated critical habitat;  

2.  Order BLM and FWS to reinitiate and complete consultation by a date certain 

on the five Agua Fria National Monument grazing allotments identified above;  

3. Declare that the FWS’s 2018 Letter of Concurrence for the Horseshoe 

Allotment is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2), and 

the APA; 

4. Order BLM to take the actions necessary to prevent any further irreversible 

and irretrievable adverse impacts to the Cuckoo and the Chub, and their critical habitat, 

within the five Agua Fria National Monument grazing allotments until BLM and FWS can 

demonstrate full compliance with the ESA, including ESA Section 7(d), 16 U.S.C. 1536(d); 
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5.  Order BLM, in consultation with and with the assistance of FWS, to develop 

a program for the conservation of endangered and threatened species impacted by BLM’s 

grazing program, including actions to mitigate damage caused by unauthorized permitted 

cattle to streamside and riparian streamside areas providing habitat (including critical 

habitat) for the Cuckoo and the Chub within the five Agua Fria National Monument grazing 

allotments;  

6.  Grant Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs associated with this 

action, as provided by the ESA, § 1540(g)(4), and/or the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 

U.S.C. § 2412; and  

7. Grant Plaintiffs such additional relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

 

Respectfully submitted March 12, 2024, 
 

/s/ Edward B. Zukoski      
Edward B. Zukoski (CO Bar No. 26352) 
Center for Biological Diversity 
1536 Wynkoop Street, Suite 421 
Denver, CO 80202 
Tel: (303) 641-3149 
Email: tzukoski@biologicaldiversity.org 
Pro Hac Vice Application Pending 
 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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